## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES TURNER, ) Appellant, ) vs. ) STATE OF FLORIDA, ) Appellee. )

CASE NO. SC08-975

## APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ST. JOHNS COUNTY, FLORIDA

## **INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GEORGE D.E. BURDEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0786438 444 Seabreeze Blvd. Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

# **

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The original record on appeal comprises twenty-five consecutively numbered volumes. The pages of the first five volumes are numbered consecutively from one to 891. Volumes six through eleven are numbered individually. Volume twelve begins renumbering the pages sequentially from page one through 1275 which concludes volume nineteen. Volume twenty begins renumbering the pages sequentially from page one through 431 which concludes volume twenty-three. Volume twenty-four and volume twenty-five begins renumbering the pages sequentially from page one through the end of each volume. Counsel will refer to the record on appeal using the appropriate Roman numeral to designate the volume number followed the appropriate Arabic number referring to the appropriate pages. The record has a supplemental record and will be identified with the letter S and the page number.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

James D. Turner, hereinafter referred to as appellant, was indicted by Grand Jury with Murder in the First Degree; Attempted First Degree Murder, Grand Theft, Home Invasion Robbery with Firearm; and Aggravated Assault on a Police Officer. (I 34) The state filed a Notice of Intent to Seek the Penalty of Death. (I 73) The state filed a Notice of Similar Fact Evidence. (I 104) The appellant filed an Objection to State's Use of Alleged Collateral Crimes Evidence. (II 244) After hearing, the trail court overruled the appellant's objection to the use of collateral crimes evidence. (II 296)

The appellant filed a Motion For Findings of Fact by the Jury, and Motion to Preclude Capital Punishment as a Possible Sentence. (I 115, 118) The trial court denied these motions. (II 399,398) The appellant filed nine pretrial motions challenging the constitutionality of the Florida death penalty scheme.<sup>1</sup> The trial court denied these Motions.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Fact Finding by Judge, Non-unanimous Jury Recommendation, Violates *Ring v. Arizona* I 121; Hearsay Evidence in Penalty Phase I 157; Improper Burdens of Persuasion I 163; Felony Murder Aggravator Improper I 170; CCP Aggravating Factor Improper II 201; Under Sentence of Imprisonment Aggravator Improper II 246; Prior Violent Felony Aggravator Improper II 251; Pecuinary Gain Aggravator Improper II 257; Heinous, Atrocious and Cruel Aggravator Improper II 262.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> II 390; II 391; II 392; II 393; II 394; II 395; II 396; II 397; II 397.

At the eve of trial, the appellant filed a Notice of Insanity as a Defense with a request that the trial court waive the notice requirement.<sup>3</sup> (II 295) The trial court permitted the appellant to proceed with the insanity defense. (VII 18) The appellant filed a copy of the deposition of Dr. Miguel Mandoki in support of his insanity defense. (XI 3) According to Dr. Mandoki, at the time of the offense the appellant was insane. (SV 100) The insanity was caused by a number of factors: appellant has organic brain damage in his frontal lobe; the appellant suffering from depression; and cocaine intoxication made the appellant's mental defect worse. (SV 101)

The state filed a Motion in Limine to Exclude the Testimony of Dr. Miguel Mandoki. (II 309) The appellant filed a Motion for Rehearing on Notice of Insanity Defense for the purpose of making a record on this matter. (III 549) The trial court ruled that the appellant could not rely upon the insanity defense to the extent that it was a result of cocaine use. (XIV 275)

The case proceeded to trial. During jury selection, the trial court asked the jury venire if they had any physical problems that would make it difficult to serve as a juror. (SI 40) Juror Sewell responded that he had a hearing problem. (SI 40)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Rule 3.216(c) of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure states that: The defendant shall give notice of intent to rely on the defense of insanity no later than 15 days after the arraignment... Upon good cause the trial court may waive this

No other juror responded. (SI 40) Juror Gard stated that he was a Park Ranger with the State of Florida (SI 60)

After jury selection, Juror Gard sent a letter to the trial court disclosing that he had a seizure disorder. (III 437) Juror Gard did not mentioned the seizure disorder during jury selection because "I wanted to go thru the process." (III 437) The trial court held a hearing. (III 440) During the hearing Juror Gard was questioned about his medical condition. (III 446-454) The appellant moved to have Juror Gard excused for cause. (III 455) The trial court denied the cause challenge stating "If something should happen and he can't serve, then, you know, that's why we have alternates." (III 457) The appellant objected to the jury and requested an additional peremptory challenge. (III 463) The trial court overruled the objection and denied the request for an additional peremptory challenge. (III 463) The jury was sworn. (III 467)

During jury deliberations Juror Gard had a seizure and was taken to the hospital. (III 511) The jury had reached a verdict on four of the five counts. The trial court reviewed *Williams v. State*, 792 So.2d 1207 (Fla. 2001), and asked the appellant whether they would waive the issue raised by the juror illness and agree to seat an alternate juror. The appellant filed a Motion to Dismiss all charges on

requirement. Rule 3.216(h).

double jeopardy grounds. The trial court denied the Motion to Dismiss. (XIV 292)

The case proceeded to a second trial. (XVI 611) The state rests. (XVIII 1112) The appellant made a Motion to Direct a Verdict of not guilty to first degree felony murder, premeditated, because the evidence failed to show a premeditated design to kill the victim, and the allegation that the appellant committed a burglary and or robbery was insufficient. (XVIII 1113) The appellant argued that the state's evidenced establishes a second degree murder. (XVIII 1112) Likewise, the appellant argued that the state's evidenced as to Count II establishes an attempted second degree murder. (XVIII 1113) The appellant argued that the state failed to prove a prima facie case on the remaining Counts. (XVIII 1113-1116) The trial court denied the appellant's Motions for Judgement of Acquittal. (XVIII 1119) The appellant rests. (XVIII 1121)

The appellant renewed the objection to the trial court's ruling on the state's Motion in Limine regarding the testimony of Dr. Mandoki. (XVIII 1123) The appellant concedes that the appellant is guilty of second degree murder. (XVIII 1130) The appellant renewed his Motion for Judgement of Acquittal which was denied. (XVIII 1131) The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged to all counts. (XIX 1267-68)

### PENALTY PHASE

The appellant objected to the state seeking the HAC<sup>4</sup> and CCP<sup>5</sup> aggravating factors. (XX 21; 27) The trial court overruled appellant's objection. (XX 26; 35) The appellant objected to a reference in his South Carolina Judgement and Sentence paperwork that he violated probation.<sup>6</sup> (XX 44) The state rests. (XX 57) The jury returned an advisory sentence of death by a vote of 10-2. (XXIII 422)

The trial court issued a Sentencing Order and found that there were six (6) aggravating factors.<sup>7</sup> (V 833-843) The trial court found that there was statutory mitigation. (V 844) The trial court found that the appellant was under the influence of an extreme mental disturbance; and the capacity of the appellant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Capital Felony was Heinous, Atrocious or Cruel.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Capital Felony was committed in a Cold, Calculated and Premeditated Manner.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Judgement & Sentence was being presented to support the Committed by a Person Under Sentence of Imprisonment aggravating factor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Capital Felony was Committed by a Person Under Sentence of Imprisonment; Defendant was Previously Convicted of Another Capital Felony or a Felony Involving Violence; Capital Felony was Committed While the Defendant was Engaged in the Commission of a Burglary and or Robbery; The Capital Felony was Committed for Financial Gain; The Capital Felony was Heinous, Atrocious or Cruel; The Capital Felony was committed in a Cold, Calculated and Premeditated Manner.

requirements of law was substantially impaired. (V 844-846) The trial court assigned moderate weight to these statutory mitigating factors. (V 844-846) The trial court found some non-statutory mitigation, but gave it little weight. (V 847-852) The trial court found that the aggravating factors outweigh the mitigating circumstances. (V 853) The trial court sentenced the appellant to death as to Count I; Count II thirty (30) years in prison; Count III five (5) years in prison concurrent to Count I, II and IV; Count IV life in prison; and Count V fifteen years in prison (3 year minimum mandatory) consecutive to other sentences. (V 853-854) The Office of the Public Defender was appointed. (V 883) This appeal follows.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

James Daniel Turner was incarcerated in the South Carolina Prison system serving as a trustee at the Newberry County Jail. (XVI 653) He was a very good Carpenter. (XVI 658) On the evening of September 29, 2005, the Newberry County Sheriff's Department discovered that James Daniel Turner escaped from the Newberry County Jail and that a Sheriff's Officer vehicle was missing. (XVI 662-665)

Turner drove to St. Johns County, Florida in a stolen Newberry County Sheriff's Officer Vehicle. (XVI 665) The defendant abandoned the stolen vehicle, a Chevrolet Tahoe SUV, in the parking lot of a business formerly known as KK Tires located on US I in St. Augustine. (XVI 639) The SUV was discovered by workers and later reported to the St. Johns County Sheriff's office on September 29, 2005. (XVI 639) Inside the SUV, sheriff's deputies located the appellant's inmate identification card from the Newberry County Jail and numerous rocks of crack cocaine. (XVI 643-645)

The appellant made his way to the Comfort Inn Hotel located at State Road 207 and Interstate 95 in St. Johns County. He was observed by a hotel guest, Amanda Chanbliss, lurking around the Comfort Inn, in the early morning hours of September 29, 2005. (XVI 681-683) Mr. Chambliss yelled at the appellant to go

away, and the appellant left only to reappear hours later. (XVI 682) A hotel employee observed the appellant in the hotel hallway at 9:30 am. (XVI 692)

On the morning of September 30, 2005, Renee Boling Howard, age 37, and Stacia Raybon, age 19, were packing to leave the Comfort Inn Hotel. (XVI 711) They had spent the night at the hotel in Room 210 with Ms. Howard's four children and and Ms. Howard's grandchild, Mariah McCuen. (XVI 760-61) Prior to packing to leave, Ms. Howard took her son Brandon to work and daughter Christie to school and returned to the Comfort Inn, where Stacia Raybon had remained in the room with the toddlers. (XVI 765) Room 210 was on the second floor of the hotel and facing the parking lot below where Ms. Howard had parked her truck. (XVI 751)

As Howard and Raybon were packing items in their hotel room, the appellant opened the hotel room door. (XVI 770) The appellant began attacking Ms. Howard who was closest to the door. (XVI 771) The appellant then approached Ms. Raybon, grabbing her and stabbing her twice. (XVI 773) When Turner noticed Ms. Howard was still alive and heading towards the front door, the appellant returned to Ms. Howard, stabbing her repeatedly until she died. (XVI 774-775)

Ms. Raybon was able to secure herself in the bathroom. (XVI 774) From

inside the bathroom, Raybon could hear loud hitting noises and the cries of Ms. Howard and the children. (XVI 775) Raybon no longer heard Ms. Howard's voice, then heard the sound of water running in the sink outside the bathroom door. (XVI 775) The appellant then tried to open the bathroom door. (XVI 775) The appellant demanded money and Raybon passed the appellant two credit cards and a \$5.00 bill under the door. (XVI 776) Raybon then negotiated for one of the children and she braced herself against the bathroom door to prevent the appellant from entering. (XVI 776) The appellant then handed Mariah, the eight month old to Ms. Raybon and she immediately slammed the door. (XVI 776) Raybon asked the appellant to please leave, and the appellant stated that he was leaving and to give him ten minutes to get away. (XVI 777)

Raybon stayed in the bathroom about five minutes, and then slowly opened the bathroom door to be sure that the appellant had left. (XVI 780) Upon opening the door, she found Ms. Howard lifeless on the floor. (XVI 780) After unsuccessfully attempting to call 911, Ms. Raybon ran out of the hotel room screaming for help. (XVI 780) The Comfort Inn staff came to her aid. (XVI 781) The police were contacted and Ms. Raybon was able to provide a description of Ms. Howard's truck, which was stolen after the murder. (XVI 781) Ms. Raybon also picked the appellant out of a photo lineup. (XVI 785) The police issued a BOLO for Ms. Howard's truck. (XVII 799) Deputy Graham Harris located the appellant in the truck traveling southwest on SR 207. (XVII 802-803) Deputy Harris pulled in behind the truck, and the appellant began to drive in an erratic manner. (XVII 804) Deputy Harris activated his blue lights and attempted to pull the truck over. (XVII 804) The appellant pulled over to the side of the road, and Deputy Harris pulled over behind the appellant. (XVII 805) The appellant then put the truck in reverse and rammed Deputy Harris' patrol car. (XVII 806) The appellant then turned the truck around and attempted to ram Deputy Harris' patrol vehicle again. (XVII) After ramming the rear of Deputy Harris' patrol vehicle, the appellant crashed the truck on the Deep Creek bridge. (XVII 812)

The appellant got out of the truck and jumped in the water. (XVII 812) The appellant ignored multiple commands to surrender and responded with the words: "Shoot me, Shoot me, I didn't do it" (XVII 840) The appellant was ultimately apprehended with the help of a K9 and stated his name was "Ricky." (XVII 824, 851) Located inside the appellant's pants pocket, were Stacey Raybon's stolen credit cards. (XVII 862) Upon transporting the appellant back to St. Augustine, the appellant mentioned that "he did not want to go back there," meaning the Comfort Inn. (XVII 873) Upon initial questioning, the appellant stated that he had "smoked crack a couple hours ago." (XVII 895) In a video taped statement given to the Sheriff's Office, appellant indicated that he and a man named "Rick" had planned to steal the victim's truck. (XVII 900) The appellant was positively identified by Stacey Raybon as the person who attacked her and killed Renee Boling Howard. (XVI 771) Additionally, the appellant's DNA was found in room 210 of the Comfort Inn. (XVIII 1045) The appellant's bloody shoe print was also found in room 210. (XVIII 1066) Renee Boling Howard died after suffering 15 separate stab wounds to her face, neck, right arm, left hand, right chest, left chest, abdomen, right leg, and left knee. (XVIII 1107)

### PENALTY PHASE

Dr. Terrence Steiner opined that the victim had two wounds in nerve-rich tissue that should have caused some pain. (XX 50) The state introduced a certified copy of a judgement and sentence out of the State of South Carolina to establish that the appellant was under sentence of imprisonment at the time of the murder. (XX 56)

Hope Turner is the younger sister of the appellant. (XX 62) The appellant assisted Turner during her school years. (XX 63) The appellant would get Turner up in the morning, fix her breakfast and take her to school. (XX 64) The appellant

would pick Turner up from school and have dinner ready for her because the appellant's father worked construction and was gone, and Turner's mother drove a truck making local delivers. (XX 64) The appellant would take Turner to the Brownies and would take her door to door to sell cookies. (XX 65) The appellant would attend all of Turner's after school activities. (XX 65) When Turner became older she saw her brother using drugs including "meth, pot, and pills." (XX 66) The appellant would be intoxicated with alcohol on a daily basis. (XX 66)

The appellant was married to Donna Turner and she had three children. (XX 68) The appellant would take the three children fishing, cook them dinner and take them back and forth to school and make sure they had everything they needed. (XX 68) The appellant loved kids and he was very good with kids. (XX 69) The appellant's wife Donna was married once before and had three children with her first husband. (XX 73) Periodically the appellant's wife would leave him and go back to her first husband and then come back to appellant. (XX 74) The appellant was in love with his wife and he loved her kids and it hurt him "real bad" when she would leave him. (XX 74)

Marie Hendrix is the cousin of appellant. (XX 76) The appellant first came to live with Hendrix when he was eleven years old. (XX 78) It was a common occurrence that the appellant's mother would drop him off there; sometimes for a

14

couple of months, sometimes a year. (XX 78) When the appellant came to the house he would sleep where ever they had room for him. (XX 78) From the age of ten the appellant would be left with his uncles and come back intoxicated. (XX 79) Members of Hendrix's immediate family were not allowed to have contact with these uncles. (XX 79) The appellant's mother would show favoritism to his other siblings. (XX 80) When the appellant stayed with Hendrix he would sometimes cry for his father but he would never cry for his mother. (XX 80) The appellant's father would be at the appellant very hard with a belt until he would scream. (XX 81)

Hendrix would visit the appellant in the Newberry County Jail on a daily basis. (XX 83) About a week before the appellant escaped from the Newberry Jail, Hendrix noticed a change in appellant's personality. (XX 83) The appellant was depressed. (XX 83) Hendrix asked the appellant what was wrong but he would not say. (XX 83) Hendrix knew that the appellant's wife was "playing him" and that she would be with her ex-husband. (XX 84) On one occasion the appellant made "a couple thousand dollars" from a construction job. (XX 94) For the first time the appellant's mother was real nice to him and she went out and got him two bottles of liquor and she "liquored him up" until he passed out. (XX 94) When the appellant woke-up his mother and money was gone. (XX 94) According to Sally Butler, the grandmother of the appellant's wife, the appellant accepted her granddaughters three children as his own. (XX 98) The appellant was always keeping up his house and cooking and taking care of his family; he was a real family man. (XX 99) The appellant worked at a trailer place, did carpenter work and worked as a mechanic. (XX 101)

The appellant's step-children stated that the appellant was a great man. (XXI 114) The appellant would cook their breakfast and would get their lunch at school. (XXI 114) When it was time to discipline, the appellant would take them to the back bedroom and "whoop the bed" and make them act like they were crying to make it appear that he had punished them. (XXI 115) The appellant never hit his wife even when she tried to bite his finger off. (XXI 115) The step-children told their mother that if the appellant and her ever separated they were going to stay with appellant and come see her every other weekend. (XXI 127) The appellant's wife was not seeing her ex-husband but appellant's wife would try to make him jealous over her ex-husband when she thought the appellant was thinking of going back with his ex-wife Lisa. (XXI 139) At the time that the appellant escaped from Newberry County Jail, his wife's ex-husband was hanging around their home, and the appellant's wife was not taking phone calls from the jail. (XXI 150) The appellant's wife's ex-husband was staying the night with her

also. (XXI 151)

The appellant's uncles would provide him alcohol when he was a minor. (XXI 166) One of the appellant's uncles named Sherman Landers was a drug dealer. (XXI 166) The appellant's uncle Sherman recruited the appellant in helping him sell drugs. (XXI 166)

Following the appellant's arrest a specimen was taken by the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. (XXI 169) A subsequent blood test revealed that the appellant had benzoylegonine, which is a metabolite of cocaine in his blood. (XXI 169) According to the FDLE, benzoylegnine would be in the blood system in a matter of minutes after cocaine was ingested and could remain up to twenty- four hours. (XXI 169) The FDLE could not determine how much cocaine the appellant had ingested. (XXI 169)

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