IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC08-975

**JAMES DANIEL TURNER,
Appellant,**

v.

**THE STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.**

**ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ST.
JOHNS COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION**

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

**BILL MCCOLLUM
Attorney General
Tallahassee, Florida**

**BARBARA C. DAVIS
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 410519
Office of the Attorney General
444 Seabreeze Blvd, Suite 500
Daytona Beach, Florida 32118
PH. (386) 237-4990
FAX (386) 226-0457**

Attorney for Appellee

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

Pooler was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, was substantially impaired; under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person; and age (he was 47). As nonstatutory mitigation, the trial court found the defendant's honorable service in the military and good employment record, as well as the fact that he was a good parent, had done specific good deeds, possessed certain good characteristics, and could be sentenced to life without parole or consecutive life sentences.

This case is proportional to *Buzia v. State*, 926 So.2d 1203 (Fla. 2006), during which the defendant killed one person and attempted to murder another. Buzia had four aggravating circumstances: CCP; HAC; avoid arrest; and prior violent felony (the contemporaneous attempted murder). Buzia had no statutory mitigation; however, the trial judge found both extreme emotional disturbance and substantial impairment as nonstatutory mitigation. Additionally, the trial judge found gainful employment, appropriate courtroom behavior, cooperation with law enforcement, difficult childhood, and remorse as nonstatutory mitigation. *See also*, *Diaz v. State*, 860 So. 2d 960, 964 (Fla. 2003), which involved the murder of Charles Shaw, the attempted murder of Lissa Shaw, and aggravated assault with a firearm on the neighbor. This Court affirmed two aggravating circumstances: CCP; and prior violent felony. Diaz had five statutory mitigating circumstances: no prior criminal activity; extreme mental or emotional disturbance; substantially impaired

capacity: age; and “the existence of any other factors in the defendant's background that would mitigate against imposition of the death penalty:” (a) the defendant was remorseful; and (b) the defendant's family history of violence; *James v. State*, 695 So. 2d 1229 (Fla. 1997) (stabbed one victim, strangled the other; aggravators of prior violent felony for contemporaneous murder, HAC; one statutory and one nonstatutory mitigator); *Henry v. State*, 689 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1996) (two victims shot, aggravators of prior violent felony, during a felony and for pecuniary gain, and HAC; mitigators of age (18), extreme emotional disturbance and impaired ability to conform conduct; numerous nonstatutory mitigators); *Lawrence v. State*, 698 So. 2d 1219 (Fla. 1997) (two murders, aggravators of prior violent felony, CCP; five statutory mitigators plus four nonstatutory factors; co-defendant was actual killer).

The circumstances of this case are similar to other cases in which this Court has upheld the death penalty. *See Butler v. State*, 842 So. 2d 817, 833 (Fla. 2003) (holding the death sentence proportional for the first-degree murder conviction where only the HAC aggravator was found); *Singleton v. State*, 783 So. 2d 970, 979 (Fla. 2001) (holding the death sentence proportional for the first-degree murder conviction where the aggravators included prior violent felony conviction and HAC); *Mansfield v. State*, 758 So. 2d 636, 647 (Fla. 2000) (death sentence was proportionate where trial court found two aggravating factors, HAC and murder

committed during the course of enumerated felony, measured against five nonstatutory factors that were given little weight); *Geralds v. State*, 674 So. 2d 96 (Fla. 1996) (death sentence was proportionate where trial court found only two aggravating circumstances, HAC and murder in course of felony, and some nonstatutory mitigation); *Branch v. State*, 685 So. 2d 1250, 1253 (Fla. 1996) (holding death sentence proportional in a case where the aggravators were murder committed during the course of enumerated felony, prior violent felony, and HAC, and the following nonstatutory mitigating factors were found: remorse, unstable childhood, positive personality traits, and acceptable conduct at trial.

Turner compares his case to *Larkins v. State*, 739 So. 2d 90 (1999); *Hawk v. State*, 718 So. 2d 159 (Fla. 1998); *Robertson v. State*, 699 So. 2d 1343 (Fla. 1997); *Kramer v. State*, 619 So. 2d 274 (Fla. 1993); *DeAngelo v. State*, 616 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 1993); *Nibert v. State*, 574 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1990); and *Fitzpatrick v. State*, 527 So. 2d 809 (Fla. 1988). These cases are distinguishable.

Mr. DeAngelo killed a woman that lived with him and his wife. The only aggravating circumstance was CCP. There had been an ongoing quarrel between the victim and defendant. DeAngelo was a volunteer firefighter, served in the Army, and confessed to the crime. He suffered from bilateral brain damage, and had hallucinations, delusional paranoid beliefs and mood disturbance. *DeAngelo*, 616 So. 2d at 443.

Likewise, Mr. Kramer got into an argument with another man and killed him with a rock and/or knife. There were two aggravating factors: prior violent felony and HAC. Statutory mitigation included extreme emotional disturbance and inability to conform his conduct to requirements of law. Nonstatutory mitigation included model prisoner, good worker, alcoholism and drug abuse. This Court found that:

The evidence in its worst light suggests nothing more than a spontaneous fight, occurring for no discernible reason, between a disturbed alcoholic and a man who was legally drunk.

Kramer, 619 So. 2d at 278.

The defendant in *Fitzpatrick* had the three statutory mitigating factors of age, extreme emotional disturbance, and inability to appreciate the criminality of their conduct. This Court described Fitzpatrick as “a man child” who was, “in lay terms, “crazy as a loon.” *Fitzpatrick*, 527 So. 2d at 812.

The pattern that emerges from the cases Appellant cites is that the murders occurred during a heated dispute or ongoing battle between the victim and the defendant. The defendants all had mental health problems and sometimes alcohol or drug abuse problems. *See Hawk v. State*, 718 So. 2d 159, 163-64 (Fla. 1998) (mental mitigation was substantial); *Larkins v. State*, 739 So. 2d 90, 95 (Fla. 1999) (“The killing here appears to be similar to the killing that occurred in *Livingston* and to have resulted from impulsive actions of a man with a history of mental

illness who was easily disturbed by outside forces." In *Hawk*, this Court described the defendant as "suffering from brain impairment from a brain injury and damage to the cerebral cortex, which probably was caused by spinal meningitis Hawk suffered as a child at which time he also became deaf." Hawk was also nineteen and under the influence of drugs and alcohol at the time of the offense. Hawk started seeing a psychologist at the age of five and "had poor impulse control even as a child." *Id.*

In *Larkins*, the defendant had an extensive history of mental and emotional problems. He suffered from organic brain damage possibly in both the left and right hemispheres, which affects both his mental and emotional components. Larkins had a substantial memory impairment, which ranked him in the lower one percent of the population. Larkins' cerebral damage also affected his emotional component which made it difficult for him to control his behavior. Benign occurrences would "call forth a great rage." Larkins had a low average level of intelligence, and functioned within the lower twenty percent of the population; he dropped out of school in the fifth or sixth grade; had a history of drug and alcohol abuse; and that he had difficulty learning and socializing with others. This Court noted that the most serious aggravator, the prior violent felony aggravator, was predicated upon two convictions which were committed almost twenty years before the murder in the instant case, and the defendant apparently led a

comparatively crime free life in the interim. This Court specifically noted that, unlike the present case, neither HAC nor CCP were present and that “[t]hese, of course, are two of the most serious aggravators set out in the statutory sentencing scheme, and, while their absence is not controlling, it is also not without some relevance to a proportionality analysis.” This Court described Larkins’ crime as similar to the killing that occurred in *Livingston* and to have resulted from impulsive actions of a man with a history of mental illness who was easily disturbed by outside forces.

In *Robertson*, there were two aggravating circumstances weighed against the mitigating circumstances of age of nineteen; impaired capacity due to drug and alcohol use; abused and deprived childhood; history of mental illness; and borderline intelligence. Robertson strangled a young woman who he believed had befriended him. It was an “unplanned, senseless murder committed by a nineteen-year-old, with a long history of mental illness, who was under the influence of alcohol and drugs at the time.” *Robertson v. State*, 699 So. 2d 1343, 1347 (Fla. 1997).

Last, in *Nibert*, there was one aggravating circumstance weighed against “a large quantum of uncontroverted mitigating evidence” that Nibert was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, and that his capacity to control his behavior was substantially impaired; physical and psychological abuse

throughout Nibert's youth; that Nibert felt a great deal of remorse; and that he had good potential for rehabilitation, especially in the kind of structured prison environment where his mental condition improved markedly since the crime. Moreover, there was proof that Nibert suffered from chronic and extreme alcohol abuse since his preteen years; that he was a nice person when sober but a completely different person when drunk; that he had been drinking heavily on the day of the murder; and that, consistent with the physical evidence at the scene, he was drinking when he attacked the victim. *Nibert v. State*, 574 So. 2d 1059, 1062-1063 (Fla. 1990).

The present case is comparable to *Wheeler*, *Buzia*, *Pooler* and *Diaz* and unlike the cases cited by Appellant. This case involves a staking out of two female victims caring for three infants, a methodical and stealthy attack on both victims, and a vicious stabbing followed by robbery and escape in the victims' truck.

POINT III

THE TRIAL JUDGE GRANTED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL; THE PROSCRIPTION AGAINST DOUBLE JEOPARDY WAS NOT VIOLATED

Appellant states that he moved to challenge Juror Gard for cause, but does not raise on appeal that there was any error in denying the cause challenge. (Brief

at 44, 47). Thus, any issue relating to cause challenges, additional peremptories, etc., is waived. *Rose v. State*, 985 So. 2d 500, 503, n.3 (Fla. 2008).

Appellant concedes that he moved for a mistrial, but claims it was not “consensual” because the trial court somehow forced him into moving for a mistrial after reading the *Williams*¹⁸ case. (Brief at 45, n12.). Appellant fails to explain precisely what a “nonconsensual” motion entails. The record shows the following: On Wednesday, July 25, the jury retired to deliberate at 2:06 p.m. (V3, R475). At 6:48 p.m., the trial court noted on the record that Juror Gard had a seizure and was taken to the hospital. (V3, R511). While the parties were discussing the situation, the jury sent the judge a note advising they had already decided four out of the five counts before Juror Gard had the seizure. (V3, R469, 526-27). After continued discussion and research, the trial court cited *Williams* and discussed the holding of that case, noting that *Williams* was reversed because the trial court substituted a juror after deliberations began. (V3, R532-33).

After reading *Williams* and discussing the situation with Appellant, **defense counsel requested a mistrial.** (V3, R535). The parties then discussed the instruction to be given the jury and agreed the verdicts should be sealed. (V3, R537-39). The trial judge declared a mistrial and released the jury. (V3, R540-41). Appellant requested a mistrial, and any error in granting the mistrial is waived.

¹⁸ *Williams v. State*, 792 So. 2d 1207 (Fla. 2001).

On November 19, 2007, Appellant filed a Motion to Dismiss the charges, alleging the double jeopardy clause precluded the State from re-trying him. (V3, R434-436). Although Appellant acknowledged that he moved for a mistrial, he argued that Appellant:

(a) was placed in a position that he either had to waive his request for a mistrial or have an alternate juror seated to replace the juror who became ill after over four hours of deliberation; and

(b) the twelve person jury who had been selected and sworn had reached an agreement on four of the five counts, leaving the Defendant with the only option of requesting mistrial.

(V3, R435-436).

The re-trial began November 26, 2007. The trial court held a hearing on the motion to dismiss on November 27, 2007. (V14, R277-292). Defense counsel argued that:

The case law is clear that if a defendant asks for a mistrial, there's no issue. But our position is that we asked for a mistrial based on really inaccurate information at the time. We had the *Williams* case that we were relying on.

Nobody in this courtroom had experienced this particular situation before. . . And so we were doing the best that we could to make decisions, you know, with what was available to us at the time. And in addition, the Court's instruction to talk to our client about what options we had.

(V14, TT283). Defense counsel then asked the trial court to treat the situation as if the mistrial had been "declared over defendant's objection" and apply the standard

of “manifest necessity.” (V14, TT284). Defense counsel suggested that what should have happened is that “we request a – have a recess” for everyone to conduct research and then see if the juror could continue deliberations the following morning. (V14, TT284, 285). The trial judge observed that defense counsel had never suggested what was now being advocated, and defense counsel agreed. (V14, TT285). The trial judge denied the motion to dismiss. (V14, TT292).

Appellant now claims that the trial court never considered less drastic alternatives. (Brief at 46). As the trial judge observed at the hearing on the motion to dismiss, Appellant never requested any other alternative, and these arguments were waived for failing to raise the issue contemporaneously. *Farina v. State*, 937 So. 2d 612, 628 (Fla. 2006). Notwithstanding the fact that Appellant moved for a mistrial and failed to raise any objection at the trial, he claims he cannot be retried or it would constitute double jeopardy.

This Court summarized the applicable law in *Fuente v. State*, 549 So. 2d 652, 657-658 (Fla. 1989):

The double jeopardy clause of the fifth amendment of the United States Constitution bars repeated prosecutions for the same offense. Where a mistrial is granted over defense objection, a second trial is barred unless a "manifest necessity" for the mistrial is established. *Oregon v. Kennedy*, 456 U.S. 667, 672, 102 S. Ct. 2083, 2087, 72 L. Ed. 2d 416 (1982). Double jeopardy is generally no bar to a subsequent prosecution when a mistrial was granted in the original trial upon the defendant's motion. *Id.* at 673, 102 S. Ct. at 2088; *Bell v. State*, 413 So. 2d 1292, 1294 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). In *Oregon v.*

Kennedy, the United States Supreme Court held that there is a narrow exception to this rule where it can be shown that the prosecution's "conduct giving rise to the successful motion for a mistrial was intended to provoke the defendant into moving for a mistrial." 456 U.S. at 679, 102 S. Ct. at 2091. In rejecting the "overreaching" standard for determining when retrial is barred that was adopted by the Oregon Court of Appeals, the Court explained that prosecutorial conduct that might be viewed as harassment or overreaching sufficient to justify a mistrial, is insufficient to bar a retrial absent such an intent. *Id.* at 675-76, 102 S. Ct. at 2089-90. "Only where the governmental conduct in question is intended to 'goad' the defendant into moving for a mistrial may a defendant raise the bar of double jeopardy to a second trial after having succeeded in aborting the first on his own motion." *Id.* at 676, 102 S. Ct. at 2089. **Thus, absent improper governmental action intended to provoke the defendant's mistrial request and subject the defendant to the substantial burden imposed by multiple prosecutions, the defendant waives his or her constitutional double jeopardy rights where the defendant moves for a mistrial, consents to one, or by his or her conduct causes one.** See *Kennedy*, 456 U.S. at 672; *United States v. Dinitz*, 424 U.S. 600, 611, 47 L. Ed. 2d 267, 96 S. Ct. 1075 (1976). (Emphasis added)

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